THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Judge

MAR 14 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2016-001170

William B. Haskin, Jr.,.....Appellant,

vs.

Samuel W. Rhodes, Jr., Rhodes Investments, Inc.,
Rhodes Consulting, LLC, and Tracey M. Bozzelli..... Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROSEN, ROSEN & HAGOOD, LLC

Richard S. Rosen (S.C. Bar 4917)
John E. Rosen (S.C. Bar 72625)
151 Meeting St., Suite 400
P.O. Box 893
Charleston, S.C. 29402
(843) 577-6726

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Circuit Court erred by disregarding critical, competent, compelling, and contemporaneous evidence in the form of the prenuptial agreement of Rhodes and his wife, Tracey Bozzelli, which showed conclusively that Rhodes was a partner and responsible for his share of losses; by ignoring the relevant, uncontroverted partnership tax returns; by ignoring the parties' course of conduct over fifteen years; in misapplying or failing to apply applicable Florida and South Carolina law in failing to find that Rhodes was liable for one-half of the losses suffered by the Haskin-Rhodes partnership or, alternatively; and in concluding that Rhodes was not liable as an LLC member for one-half of the losses of 2624 Myrtle, LLC, and 2802 Middle Street, LLC, and one-third of the losses of Station 22 of Charleston, LLC?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In this civil lawsuit filed October 5, 2012, and tried by the Circuit Court without a jury, Appellant, William B. Haskin, Jr. (“Haskin”), seeks damages from Respondent, Samuel Rhodes, Jr., as well as accounting, contribution, *quantum meruit*, piercing the corporate veil, and other equitable remedies as a result of losses sustained in their joint venture building business. Haskin filed his Amended Complaint on May 1, 2013, adding Tracey Bozzelli as a party and adding a cause of action for fraudulent conveyance.¹ (*See R.* pp. 45-87)

Rhodes contends that he is not responsible for capital contributions relying on a limited liability company agreement for an LLC created for a project not involved in this litigation, as well as an alleged verbal agreement with Haskin relieving Rhodes of liability for any losses sustained by the longstanding Haskin-Rhodes partnership. The contemporaneous documentation, however, including Rhodes’s prenuptial agreement with his wife and co-respondent, Tracey Bozzelli, and the parties’ uncontroverted tax returns, belie those claims. (*See R.* pp. 703-718; pp. 719-784; pp. 785-871; pp. 872-938; pp. 939-967.) In the prenuptial agreement entered into between Rhodes and Tracey Bozzelli on March 3, 2008, Rhodes disclosed that he personally owned fifty percent of the properties located at 2802 Middle Street, 2624 Myrtle Avenue, and 1723 Middle Street in Sullivan’s Island, South Carolina, and was obligated for fifty percent of the debt on those properties. (*R.* p. 714 at (h).) The agreement went on to list the fair market value of each property with an asterisk above each amount as well as the amount of debt on the

¹ Haskin asserted claims for piercing the corporate veil of Rhodes Investments, Inc., seeking imposition of personal liability upon Rhodes, and for fraudulent conveyance of Rhodes’s one-half interest in 1723 Middle Street, Sullivan’s Island, South Carolina, to his wife for inadequate consideration. Rhodes and his wife owned this home together prior to Rhodes’s transferring his interest to his wife contemporaneously with the issuance of two large judgments against him personally in order to shield it from creditors, including Haskin. Haskin hereby incorporates by reference and preserves his arguments for appellate review as circumstances warrant for piercing the corporate veil and fraudulent conveyance made in his Motion to Alter and/or Amend Order filed February 19, 2016.

property. (R. p. 714 at (h).) There was a special notation that Rhodes was responsible for fifty percent of the debt on these properties which totaled \$3,390,000. (R. p. 714 at (h).) The agreement further reveals that Rhodes was also responsible for over \$2,000,000 in debt on two other projects in which Haskin was not involved. (R. p. 714 at (h).) Rhodes entered into the prenuptial agreement freely and voluntarily after having received advice from his attorney. (R. p. 703.) Rhodes admits, with advice of counsel, that he is liable for half of the debt on these properties. (R. p. 703.) The partnership tax returns provide uncontroverted evidence that Rhodes was a partner and, thus, responsible for his share of any losses sustained by the partnership. Moreover, Haskin's payment of joint obligations of the business and Rhodes entitles Haskin, in law and in equity, to repayment of funds expended by him which benefitted Rhodes. (R. pp. 719-784; pp. 785-871; pp. 872-938; pp. 939-967.) Rhodes's payments of joint obligations of the business over a period of years also supports the fact that Rhodes understood, and was in fact, obligated to contribute to losses of the business. (R. pp. 719-784; pp. 785-871; pp. 872-938; pp. 939-967.)

This matter was tried without a jury before the Court of Common Pleas for Charleston County, Judge Roger M. Young, Sr., presiding, during the week of November 16, 2015. (R. pp. 223-453.)² Following closing arguments, Judge Young requested that each party submit a proposed order within thirty days. (Supp. R. p. 3, ln. 9–p. 4, ln. 5.) The parties submitted proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law on December 21, 2015. The Circuit Court issued its Order of Judgment on February 5, 2016 (R. pp. 3-14), rendering judgment in favor of Rhodes and Co-Defendants Samuel Rhodes Investments, Inc., Rhodes Consulting, LLC, and Tracey M. Bozzelli, of which Haskin received written notice on February 10, 2016. Haskin timely filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Order on February 19, 2016, which was subsequently

² The official record of these proceedings consists of six transcripts, as cited herein.

denied by the Circuit Court by Order on April 28, 2016, filed on April 29, 2016 (R. pp. 15-21). Haskin received a copy of the Circuit Court's Supplemental Order on May 2, 2016. Haskin thereafter timely filed his Notice of Appeal appealing the Circuit Court's Supplemental Order. (R. pp. 169-191).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Haskin and Rhodes were best friends. In the early 1990s, Haskin and Rhodes, together, owned a restaurant on Sullivan's Island called "Sully's," which Rhodes operated and for which Haskin secured the financing and funded its operations. Haskin and Rhodes split the profits and losses from this venture equally until they sold it in the mid-1990s. Soon thereafter, Haskin and Rhodes began development activities on Sullivan's Island and Isle of Palms, South Carolina, where, over a period of time, they acquired and developed properties at the following locations:

1. Ensign Court, Isle of Palms;
2. 2914 Marshall Boulevard, Sullivan's Island;
3. 29 I'on Avenue, Sullivan's Island;
4. 18 I'on Avenue, Sullivan's Island;
5. 1723 Middle Street, Sullivan's Island;
6. 2802 Middle Street, Sullivan's Island;
7. 2624 Myrtle Avenue, Sullivan's Island;
8. 2624 Bayonne Street, Sullivan's Island;
9. 1908 Middle Street, Sullivan's Island;
10. 1914 Middle Street, Sullivan's Island;
11. 22 Lafar Avenue, Daniel Island;
12. 2851 I'on Avenue, Sullivan's Island; and

13. 46th/49th Avenue, Isle of Palms.

The structure of each of these joint ventures was virtually the same: Haskin would secure the necessary financing to purchase the desired parcel, obtain a construction loan, and fund any shortfall during construction and after all loan draws were exhausted, out of his own pocket, until the house was sold. (R. p. 6 ln. 21-25; p. 274 ln. 22–p. 275 ln. 21; p. 278 ln. 2-4; p. 281 ln. 23–p. 282 ln. 5.) Rhodes’s duties included, but were not limited to, constructing and managing the project on a day-to-day basis and hiring and paying all subcontractors. (R. p. 267, ln. 1-4; p. 321, ln. 4-11; p. 250, ln. 1-6.) Rhodes always handled the checkbook. (R. p. 269, ln. 20-24.) Rhodes would also send monthly cancelled checks to the company bookkeeper. (R. p. 298, ln. 10-14.) Once the project was completed and sold to a third party, the parties’ *modus operandi* and course of dealing was that Haskin would first be reimbursed for the costs he advanced and then the parties split the profits equally. (R. p. 265, ln. 5, ln. 14-19; p. 266, ln. 5-6, ln. 21-25; p. 267, ln. 8-12; p. 271, ln. 21-23; p. 272, ln. 14-15; p. 273, ln. 17-19; p. 274, ln. 3-5; p. 275, ln. 2-3, ln. 20-21; p. 276, ln. 15-16; p. 280, ln. 8-10; p. 281, ln. 4-5, ln. 14-17; p. 284, ln. 15-16; p. 290, ln. 1-3, ln. 14-16; p. 291, ln. 13-16.) Rhodes and Haskin agree they had an oral agreement for each project they undertook. (R. p. 265, ln. 20-21; p. 267, ln. 5-16; p. 270, ln. 3-5; p. 320, ln. 18–p. 320, ln. 3.)

From 1994 until November 4, 2011, Haskin and Rhodes repeated this process many times over, with Haskin securing the financing for millions of dollars in various pieces of raw land, building houses on those parcels, reimbursing Haskin for his investment of money, and then earning, and splitting equally, a substantial profit on the sale of the home to a third party. (R. p. 265, ln. 20-21; p. 267, ln. 15-16; p. 270, ln. 3-5, Nov. 18, 2015; p. 320, ln. 18–p. 321, ln. 3.) Rhodes did not invest any significant funds.

Examples of Haskin and Rhodes's successful projects are 2624 Bayonne, LLC, 1908 Middle Street, LLC, and 1914 Middle Street, LLC. (R. p. 337, ln. 14–p. 338, ln. 7; p. 271, ln. 9–23; p. 273, ln. 10–p. 274, ln. 16.) The tax returns for these entities reflect a pattern of acquiring property, building on that property, and selling it for a profit. (R. p. 192, ¶ 12.) In every case, the proceeds from the sales of the above referenced properties were used to repay the outstanding indebtedness of the particular LLC, repay the members for their contributed capital, and the remaining profits were disbursed to Haskin and Rhodes Investments. (R. p. 338, ln. 22–p. 340, ln. 21; p. 265, ln. 1–5; p. 266, ln. 21–25; p. 267, ln. 8–12.) Rhodes received approximately \$771,000 in distributions on these three successful projects in 2007. (R. p. 340, ln. 13–p. 341, ln. 7.)

This lawsuit arises out of the parties' disagreement about the sharing of the partnership losses sustained on 2802 Middle, 2624 Myrtle, and 22 Lafar. Haskin funded the \$1,600,000 in capital needs as a result of losses on these three projects. Rhodes contends he is not liable to Haskin for his share of the funding because, he says, there was a verbal agreement that he would not have to contribute. Rhodes contends a conversation took place at Poe's Tavern with Haskin in the presence of Bozzelli and Reese that supports his position. There is no evidence supporting his contention, and the witnesses he identified – his wife, Tracey Bozzelli, and Tim Reese – do not support Rhodes's version of events. In fact, Rhodes entered into a prenuptial agreement with Tracey Bozzelli after the alleged conversation with Haskin (with Tim Reese and Tracey Bozzelli present) took place in which Rhodes listed all of these debts as fifty percent his responsibility. Rhodes testified at trial that the prenuptial agreement really meant that his corporation owned the LLC interests even though there is no credible evidence supporting this contention. (R. p. 323, ln. 13–p. 324, ln. 15; p. 325, ln. 8–p. 326, ln. 1.)

Contrary to testimony offered by Rhodes at trial, the financial records of the companies, including the tax returns, demonstrate that, consistent with his agreement with Haskin, Rhodes contributed to capital of these companies on many occasions. In his deposition, Rhodes testified that he contributed capital because Haskin was out of town and that “we had to do something before we lost the house.” (R. p. 226, ln. 21–p. 227, ln. 6.) Later in his deposition, Rhodes testified that he did not know why he contributed capital to these projects and surmised that Haskin may have been out of town but that that he was not sure. (R. p. 251, ln. 22–p. 252, ln. 1.) Rhodes testified at trial that he had a conversation with Haskin about putting money in to pay the bills. (R. p. 313, ln. 5-9.) Haskin testified that Rhodes contributed capital arbitrarily. (R. p. 283, ln. 1-4.) Haskin was only out of town three or four days at a time during the relevant period. (R. p. 295, ln. 8-14.) There is no credible evidence of Rhodes’s contention in the record and neither he nor the other Co-Defendants have offered support for his claim.

Rhodes admits in his deposition that an oral agreement existed whereby Haskin would secure the necessary financing to purchase the desired parcel, obtain a construction loan, and fund any shortfall during construction. (R. p. 321, ln. 4-11; p. 248, ln. 11–p. 249, ln. 25.) Rhodes also agrees that there was a verbal agreement between him and Haskin as to their joint venture. (R. p. 231, ln. 20-24; p. 233, ln. 24–p. 234, ln. 4; p. 238, ln. 1-11; p. 243, ln. 18-24.) The various projects were customarily titled in the name of an LLC at the suggestion of Michael Gratz, the parties’ business tax preparer, located in Florida. Haskin received his fifty percent ownership interest for acquiring the financing and handling the financial aspects of the projects. (R. p. 309, ln. 13 – p. 310, ln. 4.) Rhodes received a fifty percent ownership in the business for agreeing to build the house and oversee construction until it was completed. (R. p. 310, ln. 5-8.) Rhodes was never due any money for constructing the homes in question. (R. p. 310, ln. 9-13.)

Rhodes would share in the profits if there were profits and losses if there were losses. (R. p. 310, ln. 14-19.) The fifty percent interest was in exchange for his sweat equity. (R. p. 369, ln. 19–p. 370, ln. 18) The value of that interest is the fair market value of the house minus half the debt as reflected in the Rhodes and Tracey Bozzelli’s prenuptial agreement. (R. p. 387, ln. 7–p. 388, ln. 5.)

Market recession in the United States began at the end of 2007 and early 2008. Construction of the home at 2802 Middle Street was completed in late 2007. Construction of the homes at 2624 Myrtle Avenue and 22 Lafar Avenue were completed in 2008. Haskin and Rhodes were unable to sell 2802 Middle Street or 2624 Myrtle Avenue until 2011. Haskin, Rhodes, and another partner, James Covington, were never able to sell 22 Lafar Avenue, which resulted in a deed in lieu of foreclosure being accepted by the bank in 2013.

Before the beginning of each of these projects, Haskin and Rhodes had a meeting in which Haskin agreed to fund the carrying costs of these projects – debt service, maintenance, taxes, insurance, utilities, and related costs, including Rhodes’s portion, until the properties sold, and in which Rhodes agreed to repay Haskin his one-half share of the losses to Haskin upon the sale or disposition of the respective properties. (R. p. 275, ln. 4-21; p. 277, ln. 11-23; p. 279, ln. 16-23; p. 282, ln. 3-17; p. 283, ln. 7-12.) Haskin contributed the capital to preserve the property, to service the debt, to keep the asset viable, and to attempt to avoid foreclosure. (R. p. 280, ln. 2–p. 282, ln. 5; p. 283, ln. 7–p. 284, ln. 25; p. 287, ln. 2-15.) Rhodes did not have the money to contribute. (R. p. 287, ln. 10–p. 288, ln. 8.) This benefited Rhodes by paying down the debt and preserving the asset. (R. p. 390, ln. 9-14.)

Rhodes now denies the parties’ agreement was that they would share all losses and profits equally or that the meetings described by Haskin took place. (R. p. 331, 10-25.) Rhodes

contends there was a verbal agreement which provided he was never responsible for losses. (R. p. 232, ln. 12-22; p. 240, ln. 12-24.) Rhodes admitted that this alleged arrangement is nowhere in writing. (R. p. 232, ln. 20-22.) Rhodes explained his version of the agreement with Haskin was based on “common knowledge, common sense.” (R. p. 232, ln. 23-25.)

Rhodes contends that he and Haskin had a conversation at Poe’s Tavern in which he alleges that Haskin told him that he would not be responsible for any losses. (R. p. 240, ln. 12-21.) In her deposition, Rhodes’s wife, Tracey Bozzelli, testified that she was not aware of the parties’ arrangement regarding Sully’s Restaurant. (R. p. 260, ln. 16–p. 261, ln. 4.) However, at trial she testified that she had thirty to forty conversations with Haskin about the parties’ arrangement, which was Haskin provided the financing and Rhodes built the houses. (R. p. 119.) Tracey Bozzelli admitted that she did not pay much attention to the details of their arrangement beyond that. (R. p. 281, ln. 22–p. 283, ln. 3; pp. 120) At trial, she added to her testimony to include an allegation that she knew that Haskin was responsible for getting the loans, paying back the money and that it was her “impression” that Haskin was responsible for paying back all of the fees. (R. p. 118.) Rhodes contends that Haskin told him that “he had nothing to lose but time.” (R. p. 242, ln. 3-7.) Other than Rhodes’s own testimony, there is no evidence in the record to support this contention.

Rhodes contends that Tim Reese, a real estate agent, and his wife, Tracey Bozzelli, were present for this alleged conversation. (R. p. 241, ln. 6–p. 242, ln. 20.) Neither Tracey Bozzelli nor Tim Reese support this story. Rhodes elicited testimony at trial from Mr. Reese that the lots Haskin and Rhodes were considering purchasing at 2802 Middle and 2624 Myrtle were overpriced. (R. p. 416, ln. 17–p. 418, ln. 8.) Nevertheless, Rhodes proceeded to build houses on these lots, which everyone agrees was his responsibility under the parties’ oral agreement.

Neither Tim Reese nor Tracey Bozzelli ever testified at trial that Haskin made the statement to the effect that “all Rhodes had to lose was time” or that Rhodes would not have to share in losses as well as profits. Mr. Reese did not testify at all about this alleged conversation and admitted that he did not know anything about Rhodes and Haskin’s business relationship. (R. p. 418, ln. 11-14; p. 419, ln. 22–p. 420, ln. 2.) Neither Mr. Reese nor Tracey Bozzelli testified that they had any understanding of how Rhodes and Haskin would split profits and losses. (R. p. 418, ln. 11-14; p. 419, ln. 22–p. 420, ln. 2; pp. 118-120.) Rhodes’s claim that Haskin said to him, “all you have to lose is time” is unsubstantiated by the record; however, the prenuptial agreement, which was authenticated by both Rhodes and Tracey Bozzelli, does show that Rhodes personally owned fifty percent of 2802 Middle Street, 2624 Myrtle Avenue, and 1723 Middle Street, in Sullivan’s Island, South Carolina, and was obligated for fifty percent of the debt on those properties. (R. p. 714 at (h).)

From 2008 through 2011, Haskin funded approximately \$1,500,000 in debt service, maintenance, taxes, insurance, utilities, and related costs for 2802 Middle, 2624 Myrtle, and 22 Lafar. (R. p. 342, ln. 7–p. 343, ln. 2; p. 344, ln. 15-17.) Haskin, from 2006 to 2011, contributed \$837,000 to the carrying costs of 2820 Middle, and Rhodes showed a contributed capital \$15,000. (R. p. 342, ln. 7-16; R. p. 454.) The tax returns show that for 2624 Myrtle, Haskin contributed approximately \$505,000 in his capital account, and that Rhodes contributed \$35,000 through his capital account. (R. p. 342, ln. 7-20.)

Station 22 of Charleston, LLC, actually had three members, Haskin, Rhodes, and Mr. Covington, and their contributions through their capital accounts were \$161,384, \$3,500, and \$122,107, respectively. (R. p. 380, ln. 19 – p. 31, ln. 10.) Haskin funded \$161,384 of those carrying costs. (R. p. 380, ln. 19 – p. 31, ln. 10.)

Before this lawsuit was initiated, Rhodes never disputed the fact that he owed Haskin over \$1,300,000. (R. p. 292, ln. 23-25; p. 293, ln. 11-13.) Rhodes testified that the reason he never objected during the course of this discussion via email was that he was “taken aback” and “caught off guard” by Haskin’s demand for repayment of over \$1,300,000 for Rhodes’s share of the losses on these projects. (R. p. 319, ln. 4-18.) Haskin’s Complaint was filed a year later on October 5, 2012. When asked at trial whether the first time he denied liability for the losses claimed by Haskin was in his Answer to the Complaint in this case, Rhodes responded: “That may be right, I’m not sure.” (R. p. 322, ln. 13-15; p. 293, ln. 14-16.) Rhodes did not deny he owed Haskin his share of the carrying costs until he hired an attorney.

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