THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeal

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

MAR 13 2017

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No: 2016-001170

William B. Haskin, Jr.....Appellant

Samuel W. Rhodes, Jr., Rhodes Investments, Inc, Rhodes Consulting, LLC
and Tracey M. Bozzelli.....Respondents

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

CISA & DODDS, LLP

Frank M. Cisa
858 Lowcountry Blvd., Suite 101
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
(843) 881-6530 fax:(843) 881-5433
E-mail: frank@cisadodds.com
Attorney for Respondents

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeal

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

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

ARGUMENT

A. The Circuit Court did not err by failing to consider Haskin’s equitable cause of action for Accounting.

In Haskin’s seventh cause of action for an Accounting, he alleges that “the Defendants are required to account to the Plaintiff for any assets, cash, or real estate of Plaintiff or the LLCs that Defendants acquired in contravention of the rights of the Plaintiff. (R.p.64, paragraph 92). There was no testimony or evidence presented at the trial that any of the Defendants possessed or received any assets, cash or real estate from the Plaintiff or the LLCs in question. In fact, Haskin testified that Rhodes was his best friend and that he trusted him completely. (R.p. 268, L.4-7). Haskin also acknowledged that neither Rhodes Investments or Rhodes got anything out of the three projects, 2624 Myrtle, 2802 Middle and Station 22. (R.p. 305, L5-8). He also acknowledged that 2802 Middle Street and 2624 Myrtle were sold at short sales in 2011. (R.p. 279, L.8-10; R.p.281, L.18-22; R.p.283, L.13-18). The Station 22 property located at 22 LaFare Avenue was deeded to the bank in lieu of foreclosures (R.p. 284, L.17 to R.p.285, L.10). Haskin also signed all of the tax returns which were prepared by his accountant. (R.p., 302, L.1-3).

The Order of Judgment, Judge Young found that an accounting had been done for each of these entities and that none of the entities currently own any assets. (R.p.13, Order of Judgment)

B. The Circuit Court did not err by disregarding the Prenuptial Agreement of Rhodes and his wife, Bozzelli.

Haskin argues that the Prenuptial Agreement proves that Rhodes considered himself personally liable for one-half (½) of the debt of the projects at issue. The Prenuptial Agreement, however, does not contain any language that indicates that Rhodes considered himself personally liable for one-half (½) of the debt for the projects. (R.p. 703, Prenuptial Agreement).

Paragraph 13H of the Prenuptial Agreement simply list what Rhodes thought was the fair market value of the three projects and the amount of debt owing on the projects. There was no contention by Haskin that he relied on the Prenuptial Agreement in making additional contributions to the three projects.

Haskin's expert CPA, Richard Livingston, testified that the tax returns and the K-1s show that Rhodes and Haskin's each had a fifty (50%) percent ownership in the net asset value of the subject entities throughout all of the time periods. (R.p. 352, L.17-25). Mr. Livingston also testified that the losses were allocated on the tax returns to the member who actually contributed and lost money. (R.p. 348, L.11-24).

Even though Haskin and Rhodes each had a fifty (50%) percent interest in the net asset value of the companies, losses were allocated on the tax returns in accordance with each members contribution.

Livingston also testified that the members of 2802 Middle and 2624 Myrtle were Haskin

and Rhodes Investments. (R.p. 363, L.11-24). He also testified that the members of Station 22 at all times were Haskin, Rhodes Investments and Covington Properties, Inc. (R.p. 364, L.20-22). Rhodes was never a member of any of the three limited liability companies at issue in this case.

Mr. Livingston also testified that he reviewed the signed Operating Agreement for 2624 Bayonne and reviewed the unsigned Operating Agreements for 2802 Middle and 2624 Myrtle as one of the sources to determine the understanding of the parties. (R.p. 391, L.24 to R.p.392, L.18). He acknowledged that the Operating Agreements set forth the duties and responsibility of the members; that the subject Operating Agreements provide that no member shall be required to contribute additional capital to the company. (R.p. 393, L.25 to R.p. 394, L.25). Livingston testified that section 3.3 of the Operating Agreement was consistent with Rhodes' version of the agreement that he was not responsible for losses. (R.p. 395, L.2-24).

Haskin also acknowledged that the first time he took the position that Rhodes Investments or Rhodes owed him for his losses for the three subject entities was November 3, 2011 (R.p. 299, L.20-23), even though Haskin sustained losses on 2802 Middle every year between 2006-2007; sustained losses for 2624 Myrtle each year between 2007-2011; and sustained losses for Station 22 for each year between 2007-2010. (R.p. 342, L.1-24; R.p. 454, Plaintiff's Exhibit 60; R.p. 374, L.19 to R.p. 375, L.8; R.p. 719, tax returns for 2426 Myrtle; R.p. 785, tax returns for 2802 Middle; and R.p.872, Tax Returns for Station 22).

Judge Young chose to believe Rhodes testimony. He never agreed with Haskin that Rhodes Investments or Rhodes would be liable for losses. (R.p. 312, L.8 to R.p.313, L.1).

C. The Circuit Court did not ignore the tax returns for 2426 Myrtle, 2802 Middle, and Station 22 in making findings concerning Haskin's position that

there was an oral agreement to share equally in losses as well as profits.

Judge Young found that all of the tax returns for 2802 Middle and 2624 Myrtle reflect that Haskin and Rhodes Investments were allocated losses based upon their respective capital contribution and that the tax returns for Station 22 reflected that losses were allocated based upon the capital contributions made by Haskin, Covington Property and Rhodes Investments. This finding is supported by the tax returns for three (3) entities; the testimony of Haskin's expert, Richard Livingston (R.p. 376, L.18 to R.p. 383, L.22; and the testimony of Rhodes's expert, Ellie Thomas. (R.p. 434, L.7 to R.p.442, L8; Tax Returns, R.p. 719 to R.p.938).

D. The Circuit Court did not make incorrect and contradictory findings as to whether Rhodes was either obligated and/or agreed to contribute towards losses.

The main issue in this case is whether Haskin and Rhodes entered into an oral agreement whereby they would share equally in losses resulting from construction and sale of homes by the these LLCs. Rhodes never agreed with Haskin that his company or he would be liable for losses sustained by 2802 Middle, 2624 Myrtle or Station 22. Rhodes never had a conversation with Haskin prior to the time construction started on the three (3) projects concerning losses. Rhodes was not obligated on any of the indebtedness relative to the three (3) entities. Rhodes never claimed any losses that Haskin contributed to the LLCs on his tax returns. (R.p. 312, L.8 to R.p. 313, L.1).

Rhodes did make some capital contributions during a few times when Haskin was out of town and there were bills that needed to be paid. Haskin asked him to put money in to pay the bills and that is exactly what he did. (R.p. 313, L.2 to L.9). Haskin acknowledged that his part

of the agreement relative to the three (3) LLCs was to provide financing; fund any short fall during construction; and pay interest and things of that nature. (R.p. 295, L.15 to L.22). Haskin acknowledged that Rhodes did everything relative to the construction of the project with Haskin providing the financing. (R.p. 298, L. 19 to L.22).

The Circuit Court did not err in finding that “the first time that Haskin’s took the position that Rhodes Investments and Rhodes owed him for half of the losses on 2802 Middle, 2624 Myrtle and Station 22 was on November 3, 2011, as show by an email from Haskin to Rhodes.” Haskin acknowledged on cross examination that the first time that he made any demand upon Rhodes to discuss losses was November 3, 2011, as shown by the November 3, 2011 email. (R.p. 299, L.10 to L. 23). Haskin also acknowledged that he never provided an accounting to Rhodes as to what the losses were that were incurred by Haskin in 2006, 2007 and 2008. (R.p. 300, L. 21 to R.p. 301, L.4). The first time that Rhodes was aware that Haskin was making a claim against him for the losses was when he received the November 3, 2011 email. (R.p. 313, L.21 to R.p.314, L. 3; and R.p. 456, Plaintiff’s Exhibit 68-A).

James Covington, who’s company owned a 1/3 membership interest in Station 22 also testified that he had no conversations with Haskin or Rhodes about who was going to pay losses. (R.p. 413, L.4-11). Rhodes also had a conversation with Haskin concerning the purchase of a lots at 2802 Middle and 2624 Myrtle in which he expressed concern that the lots were overpriced and he did not want Haskin to loose any money. Haskin responded by telling Rhodes that he had plenty of money and that all Rhodes had to loose was his time. (R.p. 327, L. 5 to R.p. 328, L.4). Contributions that Rhodes Investments made to the three (3) LLCs were arbitrary and were for expenses that were paid when Haskin was out of town and bills needed to be paid. (R.p. 328, L.5

to L.13). Haskin confirmed that he was often out of town as his office was in Greensboro, NC so he would leave on Monday and would come back on Friday. (R.p. 294, L.19 to R.p.295, L.14).

The Circuit Court's findings are reasonably supported by the record.

E. The Circuit Court did not err in finding that Rhodes Investments contribution of capital was in the form of services performed through the efforts of Rhodes in constructing various homes for the limited liability companies.

Rhodes contribution to 2802 Middle, 2624 Myrtle and Station 22 was to construct nice homes on all three of those lots. Haskin and Covington did not help him build the homes. It took Rhodes 12 to 14 months to construct the house at 2802 Middle; 12 to 14 months to construct the house at 2624 Myrtle; and 18 months to construct the house for Station 22. (R.p. 314, L.6 to L.20).

If Rhodes was going to build the three homes for a fee, he would have charged twenty (20%) of the total costs of construction. The costs of constructing 2802 Middle was approximately \$1,150,000.00 so a twenty (20%) percent fee would have been approximately \$230,000.00. The costs of constructing 2624 Myrtle was approximately \$1,330,000.00 so a twenty (20%) percent fee would have been approximately \$266,000.00. The costs of constructing the home for Station 22 was approximately \$980,000.00 so a twenty (20%) percent fee would have been \$196,000.00. (R.p.316, L. 11 to R.p.317, L.11) Haskin testified on cross examination that he was not aware of any money that was paid to Rhodes or Rhodes Investments for constructing homes for the three LLCs. Haskin also acknowledged that if he had to hire a contractor to build the homes, he may be able to get them built for a ten (10%) percent fee but he

could have at least got it done for twenty (20%) percent of the costs of construction. (R.p. 303, L. 5 to P.304, L.4).

Rhodes did not receive a penny for constructing the three homes. (R.p. 321, L. 12 to L.15).

Haskin also acknowledged on cross examination that Rhodes Investments and Rhodes did not need money to construct the houses because Haskin was providing the money, the financing, and the shortfall. (R.p. 305, L.24 to R.p.306, L.3).

Rhodes has never done a transaction or a business deal when he was the builder and also agreed to pay one-half (1/2) of any losses. (R.p. 328, L. 14 to R.p.329, L.2).

The Circuit Court's finding that Rhodes Investments and Rhodes contribution of capital was in the form of services performed in constructing the various homes is reasonably supported by the record.

F. The Circuit Court did not err in concluding that Haskin and Rhodes were not partners under South Carolina law and that Rhodes was not liable for his share of the losses.

According to the testimony of Haskin's forensic accountant, Livingston, 2802 Middle, 2624 Myrtle, and Station 22 are limited liability companies. The Members of 2802 Middle and 2624 Myrtle were Haskin and Rhodes Investments. The Members of Station 22 were Haskin, Rhodes Investments and Covington Properties, Inc. Rhodes was not a member of any of these limited liability companies. (R.p. 362 L.7 to R.p.365 L.3).

Livingston also testified that one of the main reasons for forming a limited liability company is to insulate the members from liability. These three (3) limited liability companies

were organized to acquire lots, build homes and put those homes in the stream of commerce so it was smart to form limited liability companies.(R.p. 366, L.14 to r.p.367, L.7).

Haskin continues to complain that the Circuit Court found that an oral agreement did not exist by which Haskin and Rhodes agreed to share losses equally. As set forth above, there was ample evidence in the record to reasonably support the Circuit Court's finding that no oral agreement to share losses existed.

G. The Circuit Court did not make unsupported findings that led it to conclude that no enforceable oral agreement existed whereby Haskin and Rhodes agreed to share losses equally.

Rhodes was not obligated on any of the indebtedness relative to three limited liability companies. (R.p.312, L. 21 to L.23; R.p.318, L. 19 to L.22).

Livingston also confirmed that he had no evidence that Rhodes Investments signed on for any liability associated with the three (3) limited liability companies. (R.p.368, L. 10 to L.14).

Covington testified that Rhodes did not sign the Note for the Station 22 project. (R.p.412, L. 15 to L.25).

The evidence reasonably supports the trial court's findings.

H. The Circuit Court did not find that the Operating Agreement for 2624 Bayonne, LLC was binding on the parties as to 2624 Myrtle and 2802 Middle.

The Circuit Court did not find that the executed Operating Agreement for 2624 Bayonne, LLC was binding on the parties as to 2624 Myrtle and 2802 Middle. The 2624 Bayone Operating Agreement does provide that "no member shall be required to contribute additional capital to the

company”.

The Circuit Court’s finding that the unsigned Operating Agreements for 2624 Myrtle and 2802 Middle mirror the signed Operating Agreement of 2624 Bayonne is supported by the record. Haskin’s forensic accountant, Livingston, testified that he utilized the 2624 Bayonne Operating Agreement and the other unsigned Operating Agreements to glean and understanding of the agreement between the parties. Livingston acknowledged that both of the signed and unsigned Operating Agreements do not require members to make additional contributions to the limited liability companies. (R.p.398, L. 4 to R.p. 400, L6). Livingston also acknowledged that the signed executed Operating Agreement for 2624 Bayonne and the unsigned Operating Agreements for 2624 Myrtle and 2802 Middle were consistent with Rhodes’s position that Rhodes Investments was not required to make capital contribution to any of the entities. (R.p.405, L. 9 to R.p.406, L.7).

The Circuit Court did not erroneously find that the Operating Agreements for 2624 Myrtle and 2802 Middle were not signed because bank financing which requires signed agreements before closing was not used. Rhodes testified, without object, that Haskin switched the financing to an equity line on his house and It was his understanding that a signed operating agreement was only needed when a loan was obtained by the LLC. (R.p.329, L.17 to R.p.330, L.1).

I. The Circuit Court did not err in failing to recognize the part performance exception to Florida statute annotated Section 608-4211(2).

The Circuit Court did not need to discuss “the part performance exception”. The Court found “that the agreement between the parties regarding the business operations of 2624 Myrtle